
Appendix 4E 
(Rule 4.3A) 

BWX Limited 
ABN 13 163 488 631 

For the year ended: 30 June 2021 

Previous corresponding period: 30 June 2020 

Results for announcement to the market 

Revenue and Profit 
2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Mvmt 
$’000 

% 
Growth 

Revenue from ordinary activities 194,080 187,688 6,392 3% 
Net profit from ordinary activities 
attributable to members 

23,680  14,720 8,960 61% 

Net profit attributable to members  23,680 14,720 8,960  61% 
Profit before depreciation, amortisation, 
finance costs, acquisition and 
restructuring related expenses 

33,440 30,038 3,402 11% 

Commentary on results for the period 

Refer to the commentary on operating performance and the accompanying ASX announcement dated 27 August 
2021 for commentary on the results. For further explanation of the results above refer to the accompanying 
Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2021, which includes the Directors’ Report and Operating and 
Financial Review. 

Dividends 
Amount per 

security 
(cps) 

Franked 
amount 

Dividends paid 
2020 Final fully franked dividend – paid 8 October 2020 
2021 Interim fully franked dividend – paid 15 April 2021 

2.6 
1.0 

100% 
100% 

Dividends declared 
2021 Final fully franked dividend 3.1 100% 
Record date for determining entitlements to the dividend 6 October 2021 
Date dividend is payable 29 October 2021 

The Company does not currently offer a dividend reinvestment plan. 

Net tangible assets per ordinary share 

Net tangible assets per ordinary share 2021 2020 
$ $ 

Net tangible assets per ordinary share (excl Right of Use Asset) 0.43 0.14 
Net tangible assets per ordinary share (incl Right of Use Asset) 0.42 0.16 

Information on Audit or Review 

Independent Audit by Auditor 
This report is based on the consolidated financial statements which have been audited by PwC. 
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Directors' Report Continued 

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE 

The number of Directors· meeting [including meetings of Committees of Directors) and the number of meetings attended 

by the Directors of the Company during the financial year are: 

Board of Directors 

Meetings 

Audit & Risk Committee 

Meetings 

People & Culture 

Committee Meetings 

ESG & Sustainability 

Committee Meetings 

Directors Number Number Number Number Number Number Number Number 

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended 
to Attend 

Mr. I Campbell 16 16 

Ms. F Bennett 16 16 

Mr. D Shelley 16 16 

Mr. R Walker 16 16 

Mr. D Fenlon 16 16 

Ms. J Leonard 12 12 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

Principal Activities 

to Attend 

4 

4 

3 

BWX is a vertically integrated developer, manufacturer, 

distributor and marketer of branded skin and hair care products 
in the natural segment of the beauty and personal care market. 

The Group owns, manufactures and distributes under the Su kin, 
Mineral Fusion, Andalou Naturals, DermaSukin, Life Basics 

and USPA personal care brands, and sells products under 

these brands, as well as health, beauty and wellbeing products 
sourced from third-parties, via the Nourished Life e-commerce 

site. Effective on 1 July 2021, BWX acquired the Flora & Fauna 
e-commerce business, which also sells health, beauty and 

wellbeing products sourced from third-parties. 

to Attend to Attend 

4 5 5 

4 7 7 

7 7 

7 7 

3 2 2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Group Performance 

The Group's net profit after tax was $23. 7 million [2020: $14. 7 
million). The Group's basic earnings per share was 17.1 cents 
[2020: 11.8 cents) and diluted earnings per share was 16.8 
cents [2020: 11.8 cents). The net assets of the Group are $358.8 
million as at 30 June 2021 [2020: $298.0 million). 

The cash balance of $70.5 million was $41.9 million 
higher than prior year. Net cash conversion days were 194.6 
days [2020: 188.7 days). The Group is currently operating 
comfortably within the Group's debt finance facility limits 
and associated banking covenants. Net Cash at $7.3 million 
[including AASB 16 Leases, $18.1 million excluding MSB 16 
Leases) increased by $39.5 million. 

The capital expenditure for the year was $17.3 million, 

a $11.0 million increase on prior year relating to the capital 

expenditure for the new manufacturing facility. 

The Group has declared a fully franked final dividend of 3.1 
cents per share. On 27 August 2021, BWX declared its intention 
to raise approximately $100.0m from an Institutional 
Placement and Share Purchase Plan. Assuming that these 
shares are issued prior to the record date, and on the 
assumption that the full amount is raised, BWX anticipates that 
it would pay a fully-franked final dividend of 3.1 cents per share. 
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Directors' Report Continued 

Impact of COVID-19 on Group Performance 

In FY21, the financial performance of BWX was impacted by 
the global COVID-19 pandemic and the Group adopted a number 
of proactive strategies to meet its FY21 market guidance. 

As outlined in the 2020 Annual Report, from March 2020, 
the Group worked with its retail partners to ensure continuity 
of supply of products in demand and created hand sanitiser 
products to meet consumer demand. The Group made use of 
its e-commerce and direct-to-consumer businesses to meet 
the demand for products from consumers unable to access 
normal retail channels. The impact of lockdowns in Australia 
was mitigated by the fact that the major customers of the 
Group in the pharmacy and grocery channels remained 
trading throughout the period of lockdowns, albeit at lower 
levels than normal. In the United States, the Company adopted 

"'virtual-try on·· software for its cosmetic products to help offset 
the removal of cosmetic testers from key US retailers, and 

expanded its offerings into additional US retailers which offered 
customer-centric solutions such as "click-and-collect" to 
enable retail sales. The Group also implemented strict protocols 
on cashflow measures including ongoing review of supplier 
and customer payment terms, monitoring debtor days and 
staggering or delaying marketing spend and other investments. 

As a manufacturer of essential sanitary and hygiene products, 
the Group and its manufacturing partners have continued to 
operate during the pandemic, albeit with appropriate social 
distancing and quarantine measures in place, to mitigate the 
risk of transmission of COVID-19. To alleviate further possible 
supply-chain impact, the Group has worked with its suppliers 
and manufacturing partners to ensure that manufacture of 
products would continue without interruption and to seek 
alternate sources of supply. The Group has secured sufficient 
raw materials and components and has diversified its supply 
chain to mitigate the risk of a supply interruption. 

The Group believes that it has several key attributes that will 
assist it over the long-term. The Group has manufacturing 
capability in the same countries as key customers; the product 
portfolio includes hygiene items with non-discretionary 
attributes which have a solid ongoing demand profile; the Group 
is flexible enough to work with retail partners to ensure that the 
products remain in stock; and the Group has e-commerce and 
direct-to-consumer capability to continue to make sales. 

As the Group focuses on natural products and has a resilient 
supply-chain, the Group is confident of its future outlook. 

Dividends Paid or Recommended 

The following dividends have been paid to shareholders during 
the financial year: 
• In respect of the full financial year ended 30 June 2020,

a final dividend of 2.6 cents per share franked to 100% at 30%
corporate income tax rate was paid to the holder of fully paid 
ordinary shares on 8 October 2020. 

• In respect of the interim financial year ended 31 December 
2020, an interim dividend of 1.0 cents per share franked to 
100% at 30% corporate income tax rate was paid to the holder
of fully paid ordinary shares on 15 April 2021.

On 26 August 2021, the Directors determined to pay a fully 
franked final dividend of 3.1 cents per share to the holders 
of ordinary shares in respect of the financial year ended 
30 June 2021, to be paid to shareholders on 29 October 2021. 
The dividend has not been included as a liability in these 
consolidated financial statements. The record date for 
determining entitlements to the dividend is 6 October 2021. The 
total estimated dividend to be paid is $3.5m. 

On 27 August 2021, BWX declared its intention to raise 
approximately $100.0m from an Institutional Placement and 
Share Purchase Plan. Assuming that these shares are issued 
prior to the record date, and on the assumption that the full 
amount is raised, BWX anticipates that it would pay a 
fully-franked final dividend of 3.1 cents per share. 

Strategy, Operations and Leadership 

FY21 marks the first full year operating under BWX's Three Year 
Strategic Roadmap [Plan]. The Board approved the Plan in FY20. 
The Plan provides important structure and clarity around BWX's 
mission to be a leading global natural beauty company, and how 
BWX will drive this forward from its present financial year until 
2023. It maps out the core strengths and opportunities for BWX 
and its brands and provides key financial and operational 
metrics to measure the Group's progress in executing the plan. 
The Plan has been critical to commence the transformation 
from a regionally focused set of brands and businesses to a 
global house of natural brands with significant cross-functional 
support to drive the Group's results. Steps were also taken to 
refocus the international strategy of the business, focussing on 
core markets with key identified features and growth 
opportunities, moving from an opportunistic to a strategic sales 
model. 

The Company made key steps towards achieving the Plan 
throughout FY21. In July 2020, the Company raised $52m 
by way of a capital raising to assist in funding the construction 
of a new operations facility in Clayton, Victoria. This new 
operations facility is expected to unlock significant EBITDA 
growth, has a four-year payback period, and incremental 
earnings are expected from July 2022 onwards. It will provide 
enhanced operational and financial performance in future years, 
driven by production efficiencies, enhanced scale and margins, 
as well as greater control over end-to-end supply chain, 
ensuring continuity of supply. The new operations facility is 
expected to be completed in December 2021 and to be EPS 
accretive in FY23 and onwards. 
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Directors' Report Continued 

REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

Information about the remuneration of key management 
personnel is set out in the Remuneration Report section of this 
Directors· Report. The term 'key management personnel' refers 
to those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or 
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise] 
of the Group. 

Changes in State of Affairs 

During the year, the Group continued to progress the strategies 
that have been identified to accelerate growth and create 
increased shareholder value. The Operating and Financial 
Review provides additional information on the Group's growth 
strategies. Other than as set out in the Operating and Financial 
Review, no significant changes occurred in the state of affairs 
of the Group during the financial year. 

Significant Events since Balance Date 

On 1 July 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% 
of the shares of The Good Collective Pty Ltd, trading as Flora 
& Fauna, such acquisition having been announced to the ASX on 
17 May 2021. The estimated final consideration to be paid to the 
seller of The Good Collective Pty Ltd is $27.9m, representing an 
estimated acquisition multiple of approximately 1.7x on actual 
FY21 revenue of The Good Collective Pty Ltd. 

On 27 August 2021, BWX entered a binding agreement to acquire 
a 50.1 % controlling interest of the shares in Go-To Enterprise 
Holdings Pty Ltd (GoTo]. Go-To owns and operates the business 
of designing, manufacturing and retailing natural skincare 
products under the brand names Go-To, Bro-To and Grow-To. 
In connection with the announcement of the acquisition of 50.1 % 
of the shares in Go-To, BWX announced that it intends to raise 
approximately $100.0m in share capital through an institutional 
placement and a Share Purchase Plan, with an expected closing 
date in late September 2021. 

Other than as noted above, in the opinion of the Directors there 
were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group 
that occurred during the financial year. 

Environmental Regulations 

The Group's operations are subject to various environmental 
laws and regulations and where required the Group maintains 
environmental licences and registrations in compliance with 
applicable regulatory requirements. These environmental laws 
and regulations control the use of land, the erection of buildings 
and structures on land, the emission of substances to water, 
land and atmosphere, the emission of noise and odours, the 
treatment and disposal of waste, and the investigation and 
remediation of soil and ground water contamination. The Group 
has procedures in place designed to ensure compliance with all 
applicable environmental regulatory requirements. 

The Board is not aware of any significant breaches during the 
year covered by this report. 

Directors' Interests 

The relevant interest of each Director in the shares, debentures, 
interests in registered schemes and rights or options over such 
instruments issued by the companies within the Group and other 
related bodies corporate, as notified by the Directors to the ASX 
in accordance with s205G(1] of the Corporations Act 2001 as at 
the date of this report is as follows: 

Directors Ordinary Shares Loan Plan Shares 

Mr. I Campbell 483,486 *0

Ms. F Bennett 58,823 

Mr. D Shelley 150,000 *0

Mr. R Walker 15,690 

Mr. D Fenlon **105,820 

Ms. J Leonard ***67,092 

•Mr.Campbell and Mr. Shelley each held 150,000 shares which were issued on 19 

October 2015 under the BWX Employee Loan Plan. On 27 August 2020 and 1 

September 2020 respectively, Mr. Campbell and Mr. Shelley repaid the loan securing 

the shares and the shares are now treated as Ordinary Shares for the purpose of 

this table. 

•• Mr. Fenlon was granted Sign-On Rights in connection with his appointment as 

Group CEO and Managing Director which was approved by shareholders at the 2019 

AGM. The second tranche of his Sign-On Rights, 105,820 ordinary shares, vested 

and were assigned to Mr. Fenlon on 1 July 2021. Mr. Fenlon was also provided with 

34,736 ordinary shares on 1 July 2021 after the deferred equity component of his 

FY20 STI award vested. 

*** Ms. Leonard resigned as a director on 30 April 2021 and the amount noted 

reflects the Appendix 3Z dated 30 April 2021. 

Shares Issued on Exercise of Options 

As at 30 June 2021 and the date of this report, there are nil 
unissued shares under options. 

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 

In accordance with the Constitution, except as may be prohibited 
by the Corporations Act 2001 every Officer of the Company shall 
be indemnified out of the property of the Company against any 
liability incurred in their capacity as Officer or agent of the 
Company or any related corporation in respect of any act or 
omission whatsoever and howsoever occurring or in defending 
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal. The Group has not 
entered into any agreements to indemnity its auditor 
PricewaterhouseCoopers for any liabilities to another person 
(other than the Company or a related body corporate] that may 
arise from its position as auditor. 

During the year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a 
contract insuring its Directors and Officers against a liability 
of this nature. In accordance with normal commercial practices 
under the terms of the insurance contracts, the nature of the 
liabilities insured against and the amounts of premiums paid 
are confidential. 
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Remuneration Report Continued 

1.4 Group Five Year Performance Summary 
The tables below outline key five-year performance metrics. Effective in FY20, the Group implemented a new remuneration plan 
designed to link performance and reward in future years. 
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Dividends per share [cents per share)1 

Closing Share Price 

4.1 

$5.44 

3.9 

$3.51 

2.7 

$1.83 

7.45 

$5.70 

6.7 

$5.65 

1. On 27 August 2021, BWX declared its intention to raise approximately $100.0m from an Institutional Placement and Share Purchase Plan. Assuming that these shares 
are issued prior to the record date, and on the assumption that the full amount is raised, BWX anticipates that it would pay a fully-franked final dividend of 3.1 cents per 
share with a record date of 6 October 2021 and a payment date of 29 October 2021. 

The following graph shows the performance of the Company share price against the movement in the ASX 300 from the listing of the 
Company in November 2015 to 30 June 2021. 

Share price performance (ASX 300 v BWX) 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
2 Riverside Quay, SOUTHBANK  VIC  3006, GPO Box 1331, MELBOURNE  VIC  3001 
T: 61 3 8603 1000, F: 61 3 8603 1999, www.pwc.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
  

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
As lead auditor for the audit of BWX Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:  

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of BWX Limited and the entities it controlled during the period. 

  

Nadia Carlin Melbourne 
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
  

27 August 2021 



 
 

Consolidated Statement  
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 
  

 

Note 
 

 
Year ended 

30 June  
2021 

Restated 
Year ended  

30 June  
2020 

 $’000 $’000 * 
    
Sales revenue 2.1 194,080 187,688 
Cost of sales  (79,037) (78,839) 
Gross profit  115,043 108,849 
      
Other income 2.1 1,687 1,452 
Corporate and administrative expenses 1.5 (21,521)  (26,888) 
Marketing, selling and distribution expenses  (59,047) (50,557) 
Research and development and quality control 
expenses 

 
 (2,722) (2,818) 

Depreciation and amortisation 1.5 (7,053) (6,115) 
Finance expenses  (2,638) (4,041) 
Acquisition related benefit / expenses  2.3 6,922 (140) 
Profit before tax  30,671 19,742 
      
Income tax expense 3.6 (6,991) (5,022) 
Profit after tax  23,680 14,720 
      
 Other comprehensive income:      
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss 

 
    

Exchange differences on translation of overseas 
subsidiaries 

 
(14,652) 2,107 

Other comprehensive income for the period  (14,652) 2,107 
    
Total comprehensive income attributable to 
owners of the Company 

 
9,028 16,827 

    
Earnings per share (EPS)    
Basic EPS (cents)  4.1 17.1 11.8 
Diluted EPS (cents)  4.1                    16.8                   11.8 

*Refer to Note 1.5 for description and impact of restatement. 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement  
of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2021 
 

 

Note 
2021 

As restated 
2020 

 $’000 $’000 * 
    
Current assets    
Cash at bank 4.5 70,497 28,639 
Trade and other receivables 3.1 43,938 39,882 
Inventories 3.2 43,980 36,766 
Prepayments  1.4 3,012 1,681 
Contract assets 2.1 843 - 
Total current assets  162,270 106,968 
      
Non-current assets      
Right of Use assets 3.3 9,003 12,638 
Plant and equipment 3.4 19,864 5,724 
Intangible assets and goodwill 1.4, 1.5, 3.5  300,148 318,143 
Investment in associates 5.1 890 - 
Contract asset 2.1 2,796 - 
Other non-current assets  1,558 - 
Total non-current assets  334,259 336,505 
      
Total assets  496,529 443,473 
      
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 1.4 43,880 29,751 
Deferred income  - 1,902 
Financial liabilities 3.7 10,826 19,556 
Lease liabilities 3.3 2,666 3,133 
Current tax liabilities  6,179 1,686 
Employee benefits  2,050 1,721 
Total current liabilities  65,601 57,749 
      
Non-current liabilities      
Financial liabilities 3.7 41,664 50,777 
Lease liabilities 3.3 8,158 11,645 
Employee benefits  251 214 
Deferred tax liabilities 1.4,1.5,3.6 22,012 25,081 
Total non-current liabilities  72,085 87,717 
      
Total liabilities  137,686 145,466 
      
Net assets  358,843 298,007 
      
Equity      
Contributed equity 4.3 293,893 237,721 
Reserves 4.4 5,891 19,901 
Retained earnings 1.5 59,059 40,385 
Total equity  358,843 298,007 

*Refer to Note 1.4 and 1.5 for description and impact of restatement. 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement  
of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

 
Contributed 

equity Reserves Retained earnings Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Balance at 1 July 2019 (as previously reported) 235,870 17,552 30,941 284,363 
Accounting policy change - SaaS* -  -  (306)  (306)   
At July 2019 (as restated)* 235,870 17,552 30,635 284,057 
     
Profit for the year* - - 14,720 14,720 
Other comprehensive income for the year - 2,107 - 2,107 
Total comprehensive income - 2,107 14,720 16,827 
         
Transactions with owners of the Company         
Transactions with employee loan plan 
shareholders 1,065 - - 1,065 
Share based payments - 958 - 958 
Exercise of share plan rights 716 (716) - - 
Dividends paid 70 - (4,970) (4,900) 
Total transactions with owners 1,851 242 (4,970) (2,877) 
         
Balance at 30 June 2020 (as restated) * 237,721 19,901 40,385 298,007 
     
Balance at 1 July 2020 (as restated) * 237,721 19,901 40,385 298,007 
     
Profit for the year - - 23,680 23,680 
Other comprehensive income for the year - (14,652) - (14,652) 
Total comprehensive income - (14,652) 23,680 9,028 
         
Transactions with owners of the Company         
Shares issued, net of costs 54,091 - - 54,091 
Share based payments - 1,388 - 1,388 
Exercise of share plan rights 276 (276) - - 
CEO Sign-on rights vested 470 (470)  - 
Transactions with employee loan plan 
shareholders 1,315 - - 1,315 
Dividends paid 20 - (5,006) (4,986) 
Total transactions with owners 56,172 642 (5,006) 51,808 
         
Balance at 30 June 2021 293,893 5,891 59,059 358,843 

* Refer to Note 1.5 for description and impact of restatement. 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement  
of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

 

Note 
2021 

As restated 
2020 

 $’000 $’000* 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash receipts from customers  189,054 189,677 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees 1.5 (156,122) (160,492) 
Payments for restructuring / transaction costs  (526) (140) 
Income taxes received/(paid)  (4,289) (692) 
Other income received  - 1,901 
Interest paid  (2,574) (3,136) 
Net cash flows from /(used in) operating activities 4.5 25,543 27,118 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Acquisition of plant and equipment 3.4 (16,319) (2,883) 
Acquisition of intangible assets 1.5, 3.5 (1,023) (3,389) 
Deferred payment in relation to acquisiton of 
business 

 
(1,187) (1,966) 

Acquisition of other assets and investments  (1,664) - 
Loan to associates  (350) - 
Acquisition of associates    (890) - 
Net cash flows /(used in) investing activities  (21,433) (8,238) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of share capital 4.3 53,315 1,065 
Transaction costs for issue of shares 4.3 (1,409) - 
Dividends paid 4.2 (4,986) (4,970) 
Proceeds from / (repayments of) borrowings  (5,495) 5,098 
Proceeds from / (repayments of) lease 3.3 (3,186) (3,463) 
Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities  38,239 (2,270) 
     
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
42,349 16,610 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash held  (491) 62 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  28,639 11,967 
Cash and cash equivalents at end  70,497 28,639 

*Refer to Note 1.5 for description and impact of restatement. 
 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
1        BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
1.1     Basis of preparation 

 
BWX Limited (the Company) is a Company domiciled in Australia. The Company’s registered office is at 2 Darby Way, 
Dandenong South, Victoria, Australia. The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 
June 2021 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group). The Group is primarily 
involved in the manufacture, wholesale, online and distribution sale, and development of natural body, hair and skin 
care products. 

 
The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. 
 
The consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  
 
For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. 
 
This financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 27 August 2021. 

 
This financial report is presented in Australian dollars which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
 
This full-year financial report may also include certain non-IFRS measures including profit before depreciation, 
amortisation, finance costs, acquisition and restructuring related expenses, acquisition and restructuring 
expenses/(benefits). These measures are used internally by management to assess the performance of the Group 
and segments, to make decisions on the allocation of resources and assess operational management. 
 
This financial report is prepared on the historical cost basis, except for deferred consideration payments that have 
been measured at fair value. Historical cost is generally based on the consideration given in exchange of assets. 
 

1.2      Significant accounting policies 
 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Group in the preparation and presentation of 
the consolidated financial report. 

 
1.2.1     Basis of consolidation 
 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases. 

 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ends when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income from 
the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
1.2     Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
1.2.1     Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the 
extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 
 
Business combinations 
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of 
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the business acquired and 
the equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control. 
 
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, 
except that deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 112 ‘Income 
Taxes’. 
 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

 
Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are 
adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are 
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed 
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. 

 
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or liability is re-
measured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with AASB 9 Financial Instruments. 
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or 
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. 

 
1.2.2    Fair value 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.  
 
For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree 
to which the inputs to fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 
 

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
1.2     Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
1.2.2    Fair value (continued) 

 
 Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly; and 
 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

  
1.2.3    Foreign currency  

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s subsidiaries at their respective functional 
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting 
date. 
 
Differences arising on settlement or transaction of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception 
of monetary items that are designed as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation. These 
are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative 
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to foreign currency exchange rate 
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in Other Comprehensive Income. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on 
translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on 
the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised 
in Other Comprehensive Income or profit or loss are also recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or profit or 
loss, respectively). 
 

1.2.4    Finance costs 
 

Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Finance costs include: 
• interest on bank overdrafts, short-term and long-term borrowings; 
• interest on lease liabilities; and 
• amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings. 

 
1.2.5    Trade and other payables 

 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year 
which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 

1.2.6    Other taxes 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Sales Tax, Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) or 
Value Added Tax (“VAT”) except: 
 
 where the Sales Tax / GST / VAT incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case the Sales Tax / GST / VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of Sales Tax / GST / VAT included. 
 
The net amount of Sales Tax / GST / VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the Sales Tax / GST / VAT 
component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of Sales Tax / GST / VAT recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
1.2     Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
1.2.7    Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. 

 
1.2.8     Employee entitlements 

 
(i) Short-term obligations 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at 
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee 
benefit obligations in the balance sheet. 
 
(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations  
In some countries, the Group also has liabilities for long service leave and annual leave that are not expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. These 
obligations are therefore measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period of high-
quality corporate bonds with terms and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
recognised in profit or loss.  
 
The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period, regardless of when the actual settlement 
is expected to occur. 

 
1.2.9    New or amended accounting standards and interpretations adopted 

 
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. These standards and 
interpretations did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior years and are not expected to 
significantly affect the current or future years. Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that 
are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.  

 
1.3    Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 

The estimates and judgements which involve a higher degree of complexity or that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next period are included in the 
following notes: 
 
• Note 3.1 – Carrying value of receivables; 
• Note 3.2 – Carrying value of inventory; 
• Note 3.3 – Determination of lease term; 
• Note 3.4 – Impairment of goodwill and other indefinite life intangibles; 
• Note 6.1 – Employee benefits; and 
• Note 6.5 – Coronavirus (COVID-19) impact. 
 
Impairment and recoverable amounts of assets other than goodwill 
The Group assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group 
and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. These include product, technology, economic, 
environmental and political environments and future expectations. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is determined. There was no impairment recognised during the year as a result of this. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
1.3     Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates and 
underlying assumptions are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 
Deferred consideration 
Changes in the net present value of the deferred consideration are recognised in the profit or loss under ‘finance 
expenses’. An adjustment was made to the deferred consideration in relation to the acquisition of Nourished Life 
and is further detailed in Note 2.3. 

 
In subsequent reporting periods, the Group will further revise its estimate. The impact of the revision of the original 
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
1.4    Restatement of comparatives  
 

Over recent years, the IFRS Interpretations Committee has considered and issued pronouncements on the recording 
of deferred tax liabilities on indefinite lived intangibles and goodwill acquired in business combinations. 
 
The Group has restated each of its affected financial statement line items for the prior period, in accordance with AASB 
108 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors".  The impact of the change is presented below.  
 

 As previously 
reported 

2020 
$’000 

 
 

Adjustment 
$’000 

 
As restated 

2020 
$’000 

    
Assets    
Intangible assets and goodwill 290,288 28,937 319,225 
Total assets 415,618  28,937 444,555  
    
Liabilities    
Deferrred tax liabilities (3,531) 28,937 25,406 
Total liabilities 116,854 28,937 145,791 
    
Total equity 298,764 - 298,764 

 
The impact on the opening balance sheet of the preceding period is materially the same as above. 
 
This restatement has no impact on the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other comprehensive income 
statement for the period ended 30 June 2021 and the year ended 30 June 2020.  
 
The balance sheet has also been restated to reflect the reclassification of $1.9 million (2019: $1.9 million) of 
prepayments to trade and other payables. 
 

1.5    Change in accounting policy   
 

The Group previously capitalised costs incurred in configuring or customising a supplier’s application software in a 
cloud computing arrangement as intangible assets, as the Group considered that it would benefit from those costs to 
implement the cloud-based software over the life of the software. Following the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
agenda decision on Configuration or Customisation Costs in a Cloud Computing Arrangement in April 2021, the Group 
has reconsidered its accounting treatment and adopted the treatment set out in the IFRIC agenda decision, which is to 
recognise those costs as intangible assets only if the activities create an intangible asset that the entity controls and 
the intangible asset meets the recognition criteria. Costs that do not result in intangible assets are expensed as 
incurred, unless they are paid to the supplier of the cloud-based software to significantly customise the cloud-based 
software for the Group, in which case the costs are recorded as a prepayment for services and amortised over the 
expected renewable term of the cloud computing arrangement. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
1.5    Change in accounting policy  (continued) 

 
The change has been applied retrospectively and comparative information has been restated. As a result of the change 
in accounting policy the following impacts to the financial statements have been identified: 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

 As previously 
reported 

2020 
$’000 

 
 

Adjustment 
$’000 

 
As restated 

2020 
$’000 

    
Assets    
Intangible assets and goodwill 319,225 (1,082) 318,143 
Total assets 444,555  (1,082) 443,473 
    
Deferred tax liabilities 25,406 (325) 25,081 
Total liabilities 145,791  (325) 145,466 
    
Retained earnings - opening 30,941  (306) 30,635  
Retained earnings - profit for the year 15,171 (451) 14,720 
Total equity 298,764 (757) 298,007 

 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

 As previously 
reported 

2020 
$’000 

 
 

Adjustment 
$’000 

 
As restated 

2020 
$’000 

    
Corporate and administrative expenses (26,021) (867) (26,888) 
Depreciation and amortisation (6,337) 222 (6,115) 
Profit before tax 20,387 (645) 19,742 
Income tax expense (5,216) 194 (5,022) 
Profit after tax 15,171 (451) 14,720 
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the 
Company 17,278 (451) 16,827 
Basic EPS 12.2  11.8 
Diluted EPS 12.1  11.8 

 
The current year impact of the change in accounting policy was a reduction of $1.204 million to retained earnings. 
 
Consolidated Cash Flow statement 

 As previously 
reported 

2020 
$’000 

 
 

Adjustment 
$’000 

 
As restated 

2020 
$’000 

    
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (159,625) (867) (160,492) 
Acquisition of intangible assets (4,256) 867 (3,389) 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
2   GROUP PERFORMANCE 
 
2.1 Sales revenue and other income 
 

  Year ended 
30 June 2021 

Year ended 
30 June 2020 

  $’000 $’000 
Sale of goods  194,080 187,688 
      
Other income      
Interest income  99 62 
R&D grant income  1,136 1,045 
Other income   452 345 
  1,687 1,452 
Total Revenue and other income  195,767 189,140 
    

 
Chemist Warehouse Strategic Partnership 
On 25 February 2021, BWX signed agreements with Chemist Warehouse Group for the provision of strategic brand services 
in exchange for the potential issue of shares to the value of $13.350 million across 5 tranches, with the final tranche due to 
be issued on 31 December 2023. During the year, the Group issued the first tranche of 881,613 shares worth $3.5 million.  
 
The Group has recognised the payment as an asset which will be amortised against revenue over the contract period. All 
future tranches are subject to satisfaction of sales performance hurdles and will be recognised as reductions of revenue 
earned from sales over the relevant periods. As at 30 June 2021, the related asset of $3.26 million was presented in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as Contract Assets (current: $0.7 million and noncurrent: $2.6 million) and the 
amortisation of $0.24 million was recognised as reduction against Sales revenue for the current financial year. 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Group satisfies a performance obligation where control of the goods or services 
passes to the customer. Revenue is measured at the agreed price being the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled 
in exchange for goods. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties. The Group does not have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised 
product or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. Consequently, the Group does not 
adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money. 
 
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 
Sale of goods  
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised at a point in time when the Group has passed 
control of promised goods or assets to the customer. Control of the goods transfers to the customer at the point the goods 
are delivered to, or collected by, the customer. The Group recognises its revenue from contracts with customers for the 
transfer of goods at a point in time. Rebates and sale incentives is recognised using expected value method based on 
accumulated experience, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will 
not occur. 
 
Interest income 
Interest is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. 
 
Research and development credits 
Revenue from research and development credits are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the credits will be 
received and all attached conditions will be complied with.  
 
Government grants 
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them 
with the costs that they are intended to compensate.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
2.2 Expenses 
 

  Year ended 
30 June 2021 

Year ended 
30 June 2020 

  $’000 $’000 
Employee benefits expenses (included in cost of sales and 
operating expenses): 

 
  

Salaries and wages  28,996 27,500 
Superannuation  2,055 1,679 
Labour hire  3,434 2,035 
Share-based expenses   1,388 958 
Other employee expenses   4,815 7,742 
  40,688 39,914 

 
Paycheck Protection Program 
 
In the previous financial year, BWX applied for and was successful in securing funds as part of the US Government’s COVID-
19 stimulus package – the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). Under this program, funds of US$1.3 million (AU$1.9 million) 
were advanced as a loan which, if certain conditions are met, was to be forgiven in part or in full. BWX received full forgiveness 
of the monies received in the current financial year, meaning no amounts are required to be repaid. In accordance with AASB 
120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, the funds received are used to reduce 
expenses in the current financial year. 
 
2.3 Segment information 
 
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
(the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined under AASB 8 Operating Segments) that are used to make strategic and 
operating decisions. The CEO is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their 
performance. Operating segments are periodically reviewed by the CEO for adherence with AASB8 and any changes are 
disclosed accordingly. 
 
The Group operates within two reportable segments, United States of America (USA) and Australia/International (which 
comprises all other business outside of the USA).  The executive management team review the results of the Group at this 
level. Segment revenue, segment expense and segment result include transfers between operating segments. Those 
transfers are eliminated on consolidation. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s-length basis.  
 
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 1.2 
and each respective policy notes. The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segment based on a measure of profit 
before taxation, depreciation, amortisation, finance costs, and acquisition-related benefits/expenses.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
2.3   Segment information (continued) 
 

  Year ended 30 June 2021 

Segment result USA 
Australia / 

International Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 

        
Revenue       
Revenue from operations 75,928 118,152 194,080 
Inter-segment revenue 3,554 4,010 7,564 
Total segment revenue 79,482 122,162 201,644 
Inter-segment elimination (3,554) (4,010) (7,564) 
Total consolidated revenue 75,928 118,152 194,080 
        
Result       
Profit before tax, depreciation, amortisation, finance costs, 
acquisition and restructuring related expenses 9,732 25,269 35,001 
Depreciation and amortisation (3,340) (3,713) (7,053) 
Acquisition related benefit / (expenses) 7,127 (205) 6,922 
Segment result 13,519 21,351 34,870 
        
Head office result      (1,561) 
Profit before tax and finance expenses     33,309 
Finance expenses     (2,638) 
Profit before tax     30,671 
Income tax expense     (6,991) 
Net profit after tax     23,680 

 
 

  Year ended 30 June 2020 (restated)* 

Segment result USA 
Australia / 

International Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 

        
Revenue       
Revenue from operations 82,052 105,636 187,688 
Inter-segment revenue 4,059 4,110 8,169 
Total segment revenue 86,111 109,746 195,857 
Inter-segment elimination (4,059) (4,110) (8,169) 
Total consolidated revenue 82,052 105,636 187,688 
        
Result       
Profit before tax, depreciation, amortisation, finance costs, 
acquisition and restructuring related expenses 13,793 19,803 33,596 
Depreciation and amortisation  (2,640) (3,475) (6,115) 
Acquisition and restructuring expenses - (140) (140) 
Segment result 11,153 16,188 27,341 
 
Head office result     (3,557) 
Profit before tax and finance expenses     23,784 
Finance expenses     (4,041) 
Profit before tax     19,743 
Income tax expense     (5,023) 
Net profit after tax     14,720 

*Refer to Note 1.5 for description and impact of restatement. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
2.3   Segment information (continued) 
 
Significant customers 
There were three customers (2020: three) who made up more than 10% of total Group revenue. The total revenues 
recognised in respect of these customers was $67.289 million for the year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: $65.946 million). 
 
Geographical information 
Revenue per geographical region based on the location of the external customer is presented as follows: 

   2021 2020 
   $’000 $’000 
Net sales revenue     
Australia   96,631 88,602 
United States   63,348 71,294 
Other   34,101 27,792 
   194,080 187,688 

 

Non-current operating assets1 per geographical region is presented as follows: 
   

2021 
Restated* 

2020 
   $’000 $’000 
Non-current operating assets1     
Australia   135,349 124,013 
USA   194,430 213,337 
Other   158 237 
   329,937 337,587 

1 Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets. 
*Refer to Note 1.4 for description and impact of restatement. 
Acquisition-Related Benefits/Expenses 
On 15 July 2020, the Group signed an agreement with Mark Egide and Stacey Egide, under which no further payments were 
to be payable under the Egide Compensation Plan relating to the Andalou Naturals business, in consideration for payment of 
$0.8 million (USD) and with no impact to the carrying value of Andalou Naturals. The Group subsequently released the 
accounting provision during the period ended 30 June 2021 and resulted in $7.127 million in acquisition-related benefit 
(2020: acquisition-related cost of $0.139 million). In addition, deferred consideration relating to the Nourished Life business 
of $0.620 million was released during the year. 
 
3    ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
3.1 Trade and other receivables 
 

  2021 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
Current    
Trade debtors  45,306 39,233 
Credit loss allowance  - (24) 
Provision for rebates and returns  (3,290) (1,271) 
  42,016 37,938 
Other receivables  1,922 1,944 
  43,938 39,882 

 
Trade debtors 
All trade debtors have been classified as current on the basis that the receivable will be collected over a period of less than 
12 months. At 30 June 2021, the ageing analysis of trade debtors is as follows: 

 
Year Total 

$’000 
Current-30 

days 
$’000 

31-60 days 
$’000 

61-90 days 
$’000 

+91 days 
$’000 

2021 45,306 35,812 4,356 2,884 2,254 
2020 39,209 34,188 1,555 2,018 1,448 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.1   Trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
Fair value and credit risk 
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks, and impairment losses for trade and other receivables, 
is included in Note 4.6. 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provisions for impairment, doubtful debts and rebates. Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 60 days. 
 
In accordance with AASB 9 Financial Instruments, the Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected 
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Based on the payment profiles of sales 
over the past three years and historical credit losses experienced within this period, the Group concluded that the lifetime 
ECL would be negligible and therefore no loss allowance was required at 30 June 2021 (2020 - $24,000).  The amount of the 
impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income within other 
expenses. 
 
Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the group, and 
a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 120 days past due. Impairment losses on trade receivables 
and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised within other expenses. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
Carrying value of receivables 
The Group applies the AASB 9 Financial Instruments simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a 
lifetime expected loss  for all trade receivables. 

 
3.2    Inventories 
 

  2021 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
Current    
Raw materials and work in progress  13,787 12,945 
Finished goods  30,193 23,821 
  43,980 36,766 

 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories recognised as an expense during the year 
ended 30 June 2021 amounted to $65.322 million (2020: $63.927 million). These were included in cost of sales  in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other comprehensive income.  The amount written down (net) during the year 
was $0.64 million (2020: nil)  
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows: 
 
 Raw materials: standard cost basis; 
 Finished goods and work in progress: cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads   

based on the normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing costs except for the e-commerce business whose 
finished goods are valued based on weighted average cost; and  

 Packaging: standard cost basis. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Stock will be assessed at six month intervals to identify items that have the 
potential to become obsolete.  Appropriate provisions are made to provide for this potential obsolescence. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.2    Inventories (continued) 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
Carrying value of inventory 
The Group assesses whether inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value and ensures all obsolete or 
slow-moving stock is appropriately provided for or written off at each reporting date. These calculations involve estimates 
and assumptions around specific inventories and to the best of management’s knowledge, inventories have been correctly 
and fairly recorded as at 30 June 2021. 
 
3.3  Leases  
 
3.3.1   Right of use assets 
 

  2021 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
Non-Current    
Land and buildings – right of use  14,543 15,420 
Less: Accumulated Amortisation  (5,582) (2,952) 
  8,961 12,468 
 
Plant and equipment – right of use 

 
299 299 

Less: Accumulated Amortisation  (257) (129) 
  42 170 
  9,003 12,638 

 
 Land and 

Buildings 
 

$’000 

Plant and 
Equipment 

 
$’000 

Total 
 
 

$’000 
2021:    
Opening carrying value 12,468 170 12,638 
Modifications 47 - 47 
Effect of movements in exchange rates (740) - (740) 
Amortisation (2,814) (128) (2,942) 
Closing carrying value 8,961 42 9,003 
    
As at 30 June 2021    
Cost  14,542 300 14,842 
Accumulated Amortisation (5,581) (258) (5,839) 
Carrying value 8,961 42 9,003 

 
The consolidated entity leases land and buildings for its offices and warehouses under agreements of between three to fifteen 
years with, in some cases, options to extend. The leases have various escalation clauses. On renewal, the terms of the lease 
are renegotiated. The consolidated entity also leases plant and equipment under agreements of between three to six years.  
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, by any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the 
cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and 
restoring the site or asset. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.3   Leases (continued) 
 
Right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life 
of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the 
end of the lease term, the amortisation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment or 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
 
The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with terms 
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. 
 
3.3.2   Lease Liabilities 
 

  2021 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
Current    
Lease Liability  2,666 3,133 
    
Non-Current    
Lease Liability  8,158 11,645 
  10,824 14,778 

Interest charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2021 
amounted to $0.59 million (2020: $0.76 million). Expenses relating to short-term leases and low-value assets amounted to 
$0.06 million (2020: $0.05 million). 

Total cash outflow from the lease liabilities amounted to $3.8 million (2020: $3.5 million). 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Lease liabilities 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present 
value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed 
payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected 
to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably 
certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a 
rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured if 
there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual guarantee; 
lease term; certainty of a purchase option; and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is 
made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written 
down. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
Determination of lease term 
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to 
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) 
are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). Potential future cash 
outflows have not been included in the lease liability because it is not reasonably certain that the leases will be extended (or 
not terminated). The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects 
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.4   Plant and equipment 

 
Reconciliation of carrying amount 

 
 Office 

Equipment 
 

$’000 

Plant and 
Equipment 

 
$’000 

Leasehold 
Improve-

ments 
$’000 

Capital works 
in progress 

 
$’000 

Total 
 
 

$’000 
2020:      
Opening carrying value 1,394 2,027 552 320 4,293 
Additions - 2,294 289 863 3,446 
Disposal (560) - - - (560) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates 17 183 - - 200 
Depreciation (92) (1,437) (126) - (1,655) 
Closing carrying value 759 3,067 715 1,183 5,724 
      
As at 30 June 2020      
Cost  2,091 7,089 1,530 1,183 11,893 
Accumulated Depreciation (1,332) (4,022) (815) - (6,169) 
Carrying value 759 3,067 715 1,183 5,724 
      
2021:      
Opening carrying value 759 3,067 715 1,183 5,724 
Additions 135 2,287 7 13,890 16,319 
Transfers 3 852 97 (952) - 
Effect of movements in exchange rates (32) (136) - (9) (177) 
Depreciation (369) (1,470) (163) - (2,002) 
Closing carrying value 496 4,600 656 14,112 19,864 
      
As at 30 June 2021      
Cost  2,173 10,004 1,633 14,112 27,922 
Accumulated Depreciation (1,677) (5,404) (977) - (8,058) 
Carrying value 496 4,600 656 14,112 19,864 

 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.  Depreciation is calculated 
on a reducing balance or straight-line basis based on the nature of the asset over the estimated useful life of the asset as 
follows: 
 
Buildings 10 to 40 years 
Office equipment 3 to 5 years  
Plant and equipment 5-10 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 
Leasehold improvements 3 to 10 years  
 
The residual value, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These are 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
 
Impairment 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s plant and equipment and intangible assets, right-of-use assets (Note 3.3) and other than 
goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (Note 3.5), are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.4   Plant and equipment (continued) 
 
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset has previously been revalued, in which case 
the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through 
the profit or loss. 
 
Calculation of recoverable amount 
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
Reversals of impairment 
Impairment losses are reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there has been 
a change in the estimate used to determine the recoverable amount.  
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
3.5   Intangible assets and goodwill 
 

 Customer 
Relationships 

$’000 

Formulations 
& Processes 

$’000 

Brands & 
Trademarks 

$’000 

Goodwill 
 

$’000 

Other 
 

$’000 

Total 
 

$’000 
2020:       
Opening carrying value 7,486 7,356 109,438 157,648 3,291 285,219 
Restatement1 - - - 28,937 (437) 28,500 
 7,486 7,356 109,438 186,585 2,854 313,719 
Additions1 - - - - 3,389 3,389 
Disposals  (797) - (667) - - (1,464) 
Effect of movements in 
exchange rates - - 1,377 2,246 - 3,623 
Amortisation (440) - - - (684) (1,124) 
Closing carrying value  6,249 7,356 110,148 188,831 5,559 318,143 
       
As at 30 June 2020       
Cost  7,399 7,356 110,148 188,831 6,541 320,275 
Accumulated amortisation (1,150) - - - (982) (2,132) 
Carrying value 6,249 7,356 110,148 188,831 5,559 318,143 
       
As at 30 June 2020 (as 
restated) 

      

2021:       
Opening carrying value 6,249 7,356 110,148 188,831 5,559 318,143 
Additions - - - 48 975 1,023 
Effect of movements in 
exchange rates - - (5,827) (10,892) (281) (17,000) 
Amortisation (407) - - - (1,611) (2,018) 
Closing carrying value 5,842 7,356 104,321 177,987 4,642 300,148 
       
As at 30 June 2021       
Cost  6,992 7,356 104,321 177,987 7,272 303,928 
Accumulated amortisation (1,150) - - - (2,630) (3,780) 
Carrying value 5,842 7,356 104,321 177,987 4,642 300,148 

1 Refer to Note 1.4 & 1.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.5   Intangible assets and goodwill (continued) 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either individually or 
at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite 
life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. The 
Directors consider that intangible assets have indefinite useful lives because they expect that they will continue to generate 
cash inflows indefinitely. 
 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income when the asset is derecognised. 
 
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of the acquisition of the business 
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units (or Groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. 
 
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there 
is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying 
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 
the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill 
is recognised directly in profit or loss in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 
 
Formulations  & processes, brands & trademarks 
Formulations & processes and brand & trademarks have been assessed to have indefinite useful lives. They operate in 
established markets and are expected to continue to complement BWX’s strategic initiatives. On this basis, the Directors have 
determined that they have indefinite lives as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the assets are expected 
to generate net cash inflows. 
 
Customer contracts and relationships 
Customer contracts and relationships acquired in a business combination are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period 
of their expected benefit, being ten years. 
 
Website and other intangible assets 
Research costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are capitalised when it is probable 
that the project will be a success considering its commercial and technical feasibility; the Group is able to use or sell the asset; 
and when the Group has sufficient resources and intent to complete the internal development and the related costs can be 
measured reliably. The software costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected benefit, being 
five years.  
 
Computer software costs 
Certain internal and external costs directly incurred in acquiring and developing software, are capitalised and amortised over 
the estimated life on a straight-line basis. The majority of software projects are amortised over three to five years. Software 
maintenance is expensed as incurred. 
 
SaaS arrangements and service contracts providing the Group with the right to access the cloud provider’s application 
software over the contract period. Costs incurred to configure or customise, and the ongoing fees to obtain access to the 
cloud provider’s application software, are generally recognised as operating expenses when the services are received. Some 
of these costs incurred are for the development of software code that enhances, modifies or creates additional capability to 
existing on-premise systems and meets the recognition criteria for an intangible asset. These costs are recognised as 
intangible software assets and amortised over the useful life of the software on a straight-line basis. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.5    Intangible assets and goodwill (continued) 
 
Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. At the end of each reporting 
period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that intangible assets may be impaired.  
 
Impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets 
 
The Group completes an annual impairment test in accordance with AASB 136 – Impairment of assets. Where the carrying 
amount of assets contained within the CGU exceeds its recoverable amount the assets contained within the CGU are 
considered impaired and written down to their recoverable amount.  The Group considers its relationship between its market 
capitalisation and book value of equity, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment.   
 
For impairment testing purposes, the Group identifies its cash generating units (CGUs) as the smallest identifiable group of 
assets that generate cash inflows largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets of groups of assets. For the purposes 
of impairment testing, goodwill and brands & trademarks has been allocated to the Group’s CGUs as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 

 
Formulations 

& Processes Goodwill 
Brands & 

Trademarks 
Formulations 

& Processes Goodwill 
Brands & 

Trademarks 

CGU   $ $ $ $ $ 
USA - 118,918 63,415 - 129,762 69,224 

Australia/International 7,356 59,069 40,906 7,356 59,069 40,924 

 7,356 177,987 104,321 7,356 188,831 110,148 
 

The recoverable amount of the CGUs are determined based on a value in use model. Value in use for the USA CGU is 
calculated using a discounted cash flow model covering a five-year period (prior year four years) with an appropriate terminal 
growth rate at the end of that period. The Australian / International model is a value in use forecast for a three year period 
(prior year four years) and a terminal value calculation after the third year.  Impairment losses are recognised immediately 
in the income statement. 

As at 30 June 2021, management has assessed the carrying value of assets and performed an impairment test on each CGU. 
Based on the results of the tests impairment charges were not required in the current year.  The assumptions used in this 
modelling are disclosed below.  

 
AU CGU 
 

  Australia/International 

  30 June 2021 30 June 2020 
Key assumptions1    % % 

Average revenue growth over the forecast period  19.1 16.0 

Terminal value growth rate  2.0% 2.0% 

Pre-tax discount rate  12.7% 11.4% 

1. FY21 model was prepared using a 3 year forecast period (FY20 4 years) 

 
Australia/International CGU 
The Directors and management have considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for key assumptions in relation 
to the Australia/International CGU and have not identified any instances that could cause the carrying amount to exceed its 
recoverable amount. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.5    Intangible assets and goodwill (continued) 

 
US CGU  
 

                                  USA 
  30 June 2021 30 June 2020 
Key assumptions1    % % 

Average annual revenue growth over the forecast period  16.6% 13.4% 

Terminal value growth rate  2.0% 2.0% 
Pre-tax discount rate    12.5%   11.4% 

1. FY21 model was prepared using a 5 year forecast period (FY20 4 years).  

The key estimates and assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount of a CGU are based on management’s current 
expectations after considering past experience and external information and are considered to be reasonably achievable.  
 

The estimates and judgments included in the calculations (including the five year projected period and terminal value) are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including management’s and the Board’s expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the current circumstances. The Group has and continues to undertake a range of 
strategic initiatives to deliver the growth included in the five year model. As such this model includes higher growth rates in 
the early years from market initiatives previously announced and in progress, as well as margin uplift from the new 
manufacturing facility, channel mix and other factors. Growth rates in later years are based on industry growth forecasts. 
Programs not yet commenced or committed have not been included in future cash flows. 
 
Sensitivities 

The assumptions used by management for the USA CGU have been reviewed by an independent expert. The recoverable 
amount of the USA CGU would equal its carrying amount if the key assumptions were to change as follows; 

● Growth rate over the forecast period decreased by 0.6% compared to the current modelling;  
● Pre-tax discount rate increased to 0.3% as compared to the current modelling;  
● Terminal value growth rate decreased by 0.3% compared to the current modelling  

 
Using the key assumptions in the previous section, the headroom for the US CGU is $5.73 million. As noted in the expert’s 
report, the USA CGU headroom is specifically highly sensitive to any movement in the forecast revenue growth rates. 
Notwithstanding this, there are also significant variable costs in the model which will be monitored to mitigate the impact of 
any revenue shortfall. The recoverable amount is also sensitive to key assumptions including the discount rate and long term 
growth rate.  As a result the Group has conducted a range of sensitivities on the recoverable amount.   
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Impairment of goodwill 
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of the acquisition of the business 
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. 
 
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying 
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 
to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for 
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.5    Intangible assets and goodwill (continued) 
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the estimation of future cash flows that are expected to 
arise from the cash generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. There was no 
impairment recognised during the year as a result of this. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
Impairment of goodwill and other indefinite life intangibles 
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the estimation of future cash flows that are expected to 
arise from the cash generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.Intangible assets with 
indefinite lives are tested annually at the cash generating unit (CGU) level, as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may be impaired. 
 
3.6   Income taxes 
 
Income tax recognised in profit or loss 
 
  

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

(Restated) 
Year ended 

30 June 2020(2)  
  $’000 $’000 

Current tax expense in respect of the current period  9,298 5,289 
Deferred tax (credit) / expense recognised in the current period  (2,307) (267) 
Total income tax expense recognised in the current period relating to 
continuing operations 

 
6,991 5,022 

Prima facie income tax expense attributable to profit from operations 
at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) 

 
9,201 5,923 

Non assessable write back of provision 1   (1,931) (439) 
Non-deductible share-based payments expenses  507 286 
Other non-deductible expenses  192 959 
Overseas tax rate differential  (883) (409) 
  7,086 6,320 
(Over) / under provision in prior period  (95) (1,298) 
Total income tax expense recognised in the current period  6,991 5,022 

1   Relates to the write-back of acquisition-related benefits, see Note 2.3  
2 Refer to Note 1.5 for description and impact of restatement. 
 
The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on 
taxable profits under Australian tax law. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax 
years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. 
 
Deferred tax balances are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 
 

  
2021 

(Restated) 
2020(* 

  $’000 $’000 
Deferred tax assets  7,143 3,856 
Deferred tax liabilities  (29,155) (28,937) 
Net DTA/ (DTL)  (22,012) (25,081) 

*Refer to Note 1.4 and Note 1.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 

52



 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.6   Income taxes (continued) 
 
Deferred tax balances are attributable to the following: 
 

  
2021 

(Restated) 
2020* 

  $’000 $’000 
Deferred taxes    
Accruals  689 642 
Provisions  102 72 
Employee benefits  637 520 
Acquisition and issuance costs   1,294 1,458 
Deferred interest expense   913 - 
Leases  504 - 
Loss carryforwards  141 - 
Unrealised intercompany profit in inventory  2,449 984 
Other items  414 180 
Total deferred tax assets  7,143 3,856 
Other fixed assets   (1,643) - 
Brands   (27,512) (28,937) 
Total deferred tax liabilities  (29,155) (28,937) 
  (22,012) (25,081) 

*Refer to Note 1.4 and Note 1.5 
 
Tax consolidation legislation – Australia 

 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation during the 
period ended 30 June 2014. The Company is the head entity of the Australian tax consolidated group. 

 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their 
own current and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate 
amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) 
and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group. 
 
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. 
 
Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are 
recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities. 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities with the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  However, the deferred income tax 
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination, that at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax 
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.6   Income taxes (continued) 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to realise those temporary differences and losses. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and the tax 
base of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is ablem to control the timing of the reversal of temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities, 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset 
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
3.7   Financial liabilities 
 

  30 June 2021 30 June 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
Current    
Bank loan  2,998 8,000 
Trade finance facility  7,694 11,478 
Equipment finance  117 145 
Amortised borrowing costs  (106) (106) 
  10,703 19,517 
Deferred consideration – Nourished Life 1  123 39 
  10,826 19,556 
Non-current    
Bank loan  26,673 26,072 
Market rate loan  15,000 15,000 
Amortised borrowing costs  (9) (113) 
  41,664 40,959 
Deferred consideration – Nourished Life 1  - 743 
Deferred payments – Andalou Naturals 2  - 9,075 
  41,664 50,777 

1 During the financial year there was a write-back of $0.6 million resulting from release of any future obligation 
2 Payment of $1.1m was made during the financial year and $7.1 million was written back resulting from release of any future 
obligation – Refer to Note 2.3 for details. 
 
Terms and repayments schedule 
The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows: 

 
 2021 2020 

 Nominal 
interest rate 

Financial year 
of maturity 

Face value 
 

$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

$’000 

Face value 
 

$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

$’000 
Bank loan – USD1 LIBOR + 2.5% 2024 29,671 29,671 32,722 32,722 
Bank loan BBSY + 2.5% - - - 1,350 1,350 
Trade finance facility 1.06% 2022 7,694 7,694 11,478 11,478 
Market rate facility 1.73% 2023 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 
Others   117 117 145 145 
Capitalised borrowing costs   - (115) - (219) 
Total interest-bearing liabilities 52,482 52,367 60,695 60,476 

1 During the year, the term and repayment terms of the loan was modified.  
 
The facilities are secured by a mortgage over the assets of the consolidated group of companies. The facility imposes 
obligations on the Group with respect to reporting to the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. For the year ended 30 June 2021, 
the Group has complied with its obligations under the facility.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3.7   Financial liabilities (continued) 
 
As at 30 June 2021, the Group had available $4.841 million (2020: $3.625 million) of undrawn borrowing facilities. 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the reporting date. Interest bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value 
less attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
4   CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCING, AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
4.1   Earnings per share  
 

  
2021 

Restated 
2020 

  Cents Cents 
Basic earnings per share  17.1 11.8 
Diluted earnings per share                     16.8 11.8 

 
The calculation of basic earnings per share has been based on the following profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
and weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding. The calculation of diluted earnings per share has been based 
on the above, taking adjustment for the effects of all potential dilutive ordinary shares.  

 

  
Year ended 

30 June 2021 

Restated 
Year ended 

30 June 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
Net profit used in calculating basic and diluted EPS  23,680 14,720 

 
  2021 2020 
  Number ‘000s Number ‘000s 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 
used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 

 
138,741 124,249 

Add: effect of  potential conversion to ordinary shares 
under options schemes 

 
2,060 844 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 
used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 

 
140,801 125,093 

 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. In accordance with the Chemist Warehouse Strategic Partnership described in Note 2.3, BWX has 
2,481,111 contingently issuable shares as at 30 June 2021 which will be issued in four tranches until 31 December 2023. 
These shares have not been included in the calculation of diluted EPS as they are subject to the satisfaction of sales 
performance hurdles in future periods. The first of these four tranches was issued on 7 July 2021 (881,613 shares) and is 
subject to sales growth in FY 22.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

4.2    Dividends 

2021 2020 
$ per ordinary 

share $’000 
$ per ordinary 

share $’000 
Recognised amounts: 
2019 Final fully franked dividend - 25 October 2019 - - 0.027 3,355 
2020 Interim fully franked dividend -  9 April 2020 - - 0.013 1,615 
2020 Final fully franked dividend - 8 October 2020 0.026 3,628 - - 
2021 Interim fully franked dividend -  15 April 2021 0.010 1,398 - - 

Unrecognised amounts: 
2020 Final fully franked dividend 
2021 Final fully franked dividend 0.031 4,966 

0.026 
- 

3,628 
- 

On 26 February 2021, the Directors determined a fully franked interim dividend of 1.0 cents per share to the holders of 
ordinary shares in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021, to be paid to shareholders on 15 April 2021. The record 
date for determining entitlements to the dividend was 12 March 2021. The total dividend paid was $1.398 million. 

On 27 August 2021, the Directors determined to pay a fully franked final dividend of 3.1 cents per share to the holders of 
ordinary shares in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2021, to be paid to shareholders on 29 October 2021. The 
record date for determining entitlements to the dividend is 6 October 2021. The total estimated dividend to be paid is $4.966 
milion.  

On 27 August 2021, BWX declared its intention to raise approximately $100.0m from an Institutional Placement and 
Share Purchase Plan.  Assuming that these shares are issued prior to the record date, and on the assumption that the full 
amount is raised, BWX anticipates that it would pay a fully-franked dividend of 3.1 cents per share. 

In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity in the Group has also assumed the 
benefit of $11,639,341 (30 June 2020: $9,246,165) franking credits. 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Dividends are recognised when an obligation to pay a dividend arises, following declaration of the dividend by the Company’s 
Board of Directors. 

4.3    Contributed Equity 

2021 2020 
$’000 $’000 

Ordinary shares, fully paid 293,893 237,721 

Movements in share capital 
 2021 June 2020 

Number $’000 Number $’000 

Balance at 1 July 124,249,888 237,721 124,249,888 235,870 
Shares issued through capital raising 

- 22 July 2020 11,764,716 40,000 - - 
- 13 August 2020 3,529,394 12,000 - - 

Shares issued to Chemist Warehouse1 881,613 3,500 
Share issue cost - (1,409) - - 

Employee Loan Plan Shares exercised - 276 - 716
Transactions with employee loan plan shareholders2 - 1,315 - 1,065
CEO Sign-On Rights Vested - 470 - - 
Distributions paid3 - 20 - 70
Balance at 30 June 140,425,611 293,893 124,249,888 237,721 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
4.3    Contributed Equity (continued) 
 
Movements in share capital 
1 Refer to Note 2.1 
2 Relates to repayment of employee loan plans shareholders; 
3 As per the employee loan plan agreement, distributions in cash are limited to the total tax payable on the dividend income in the 

shareholder’s name, less the value of franking credits attributable to that dividend. 
 

Ordinary shares 
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at shareholders’ meetings in a poll or one vote per shareholder on a show of hands. In the event of winding up of the 
Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of 
liquidation.  
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity 
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
4.4    Reserves 

 

  
Shared-Based 

Payment Reserve 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve Total 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 1 July 2019   1,620 15,932  17,552  
Exchange difference on translation of 
overseas subsidiaries   - 2,107 2,107 
Share-based payment expense   958 - 958 
Employee Loan Plan Shares exercised   (716) - (716) 
Balance at 30 June 2020   1,862 18,039 19,901 
  
Balance at 1 July 2020   1,862 18,039 19,901 
Exchange difference on translation of 
overseas subsidiaries   - (14,652) (14,652) 
Share-based payment expense   1,388 - 1,388 
CEO Sign-On Rights Vested  (470)  (470) 
Employee Loan Plan Shares exercised   (276) - (276) 
Balance at 30 June 2021   2,504 3,387 5,891 

 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR) 
FCTR comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations 
where their functional currency is different to the Group’s presentation currency.  
 
Share-based payment reserve 
The employee remuneration reserve comprises the fair value of share-based payment plans recognised as an expense in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss. Where rights have vested or options relating to employee loan plan shares exercised 
during the period, the amounts recognised in relation to the relevant grants are transferred to contributed equity. Refer to 
Note 6.2 for details of share-based payments.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

57



 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
4.5   Reconciliaton of cash flows from operating activities  
 

  Year ended 
30 June 2021 

Year ended 
30 June 2020 

  $’000 $’000 
    
Net profit after tax  23,680 14,720 
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation and amortisation  7,053 6,115 
Reversal of deferred consideration  (7,746) - 
Share-based payments  1,627 958 
  24,614 21,793 
Changes in assets and liabilities    
(Increase) / decrease in:    
Trade and other receivables  (5,362) (8,841) 
Inventories  (8,605) (7,640) 
Other assets  (1,402) 908 
Increase / (decrease) in:    
Trade and other payables  14,938 17,257 
Provisions  (1,342) 1,444 
Net income tax assets and liabilities  2,702 2,196 
  929 5,324 
Net cash from operating activities  25,543 27,118 

 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Cash at bank 
Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily converted into known amounts of cash.  For 
the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents 
as defined above, net of bank overdraft facilities. 
 
4.6   Financial risk management 
 
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise of loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.  The main purpose 
of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations.  The Group’s principal financial assets include loans, trade 
and other receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that derive directly from its operations. 
 
The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  The Group’s senior management advises on financial risks 
and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Group, providing assurance to the Board of Directors that 
the Group’s financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, 
measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives.  The Board of Directors reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below. 
 
4.6.1   Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices.  Market risk comprises interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and 
commodity risk.  Financial instruments affected by market risk include accounts payable, accounts receivables, loans and 
borrowings and cash deposits.  The risks to which the Group has a material sensitivity are described below. 
 
4.6.1.1   Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates.  As at 30 June 2021, the Group has a cash flow exposure to changes in market interest rates.  The 
Group manages its cash flow risk of changes to interest rates through cash flow forecasting analyses, which incorporate the 
potential for interest rate movements. Any increase in interest rates will impact the Group’s cost of servicing these 
borrowings, which may adversely impact its financial position. 

58



 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
4.6   Financial risk management (continued) 
 
The Group is exposed to  London Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) through its loan with CBA. Existing LIBOR-referencing contracts 
that mature beyond their respective LIBOR cessation dates are generally expected to be amended to reference an alternative 
risk-free reference rates (RFRs). The impact of the change is currently assessed and discussed with CBA. 
 
The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk. The 
Group is using a sensitivity of 50 basis points as management considers this to be reasonable having regard to historic 
movements in interest rates. This sensitivity assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, 
remain consistent. A positive number represents an increase in pre-tax profit and a negative number a decrease in pre-tax 
profit. 
 

 
Carrying 
amount 

$’000 

-50bps 
Pre-tax Profit 

$’000 

+50bps 
Pre-tax Profit 

$’000 
At 30 June 2020    
Financial liabilities    
Variable-rate instruments 60,475 294 (294) 
Total increase/(decrease) 60,475 294 (294) 
At 30 June 2021    
Financial liabilities    
Variable-rate instruments 52,368 262 (262) 
Total increase/(decrease) 52,368 262 (262) 

 
4.6.1.2   Foreign currency risk  
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates.  The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to 
foreign exchange rate fluctuations arise.  Settlement of trade payables and receivables are performed at spot rates, and 
management monitors this risk through cash flow forecasting and will continue to monitor the management of this risk as 
the scale of the Group’s operations grows.  
 
At the reporting date, the Group’s financial assets and liabilities were denominated across the following currencies: USD, 
EUR, GBP and CAD. 
 

   

Year ended 
30 June 

2021 
Year ended 

30 June 2020 

Exposure (amounts converted into AUD)   $’000 $’000 

       

Cash and cash equivalents   2,653 720 

Trade and other receivables   987 458 

Trade creditors   (2,015) (524) 

Net exposure   1,625 654 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2021, if exchange rates were to weaken/strengthen against the Australian 
dollar by 10% with all other variables held constant, the transaction exposure within profit after tax for the year would have 
been $0.166 million lower/higher (2020: $0.029 million lower/higher). The impact on equity would have been $9.3 million 
lower/higher (2020: $8.5 million lower/higher) as a result of the incremental movement through the foreign currency 
translation reserve. 
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4.6   Financial risk management (continued) 
 
4.6.2   Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Group has a material exposure to credit risk from its operating activities being the value of its 
trade receivables. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
Customer credit risk is managed subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating to customer credit 
risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual credit 
limits are defined in accordance with this assessment. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored.  At 30 June 
2021, the Group had 40 customers (2020: 39 customers) that owed the Group more than $0.100 million each and accounted 
for approximately 94% (2020: 97.8%) of all the receivables outstanding. 
 
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients.  In addition, minor 
receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and assessed for impairment collectively.  The calculation is based on client 
based actual incurred historical data.  
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivables disclosed in Note 
3.1. The Group may obtain Directors’ guarantees where a customer is considered to be of risk to the business. The Group 
evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers are located in several 
jurisdictions and industries.  
 
4.6.3   Liquidity and capital risk management 
 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Group and the Group’s subsequent ability to meet their obligations to 
repay their financial liabilities as and when they fall due. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
4.6 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of equity and 
debt funding and cash and short-term deposits sufficient to meet the Group’s current cash requirements.  Details of the 
contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities were as follows: 
 

  
Less than 6 

months  
6 to 12 

months 
1 to  5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
cashflows  

 Carrying 
amounts 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
At 30 June 2020          

Cash and cash equivalents 28,639  -  - 28,639 28,639 
Trade and other receivables 39,882  - - 39,882 39,882 
  68,521 - - 68,521 68,521 
Financial liabilities           
Trade creditors (11,776)  - - (11,776) (11,776) 
Other payables and accruals (17,976) - - (17,976)  (17,976)  
Lease liabilities (1,729) (1,729) (12,069) (15,527) (14,778) 
Loans and borrowings (1) (30,623) (4,000) (27,376) (61,999) (60,476) 
Deferred consideration on 
payments (39)  - (9,818) (9,857) (9,857) 
  (62,143) (5,729) (49,263) (117,135) (114,863) 
  6,378 (5,729) (49,263) (48,614) (46,342) 
 
     

 

At 30 June 2021          

Cash and cash equivalents 70,497  -  - 70,497 70,497 

Trade and other receivables 43,938  - - 43,938 43,938 
  114,435 - - 114,435 114,435 
Financial liabilities          

Trade creditors (15,526)  - - (15,526) (15,526) 
Other payables and accruals (28,354) - - (28,354) (28,354) 
Lease liabilities (1,729) (1,540) (8,610) (11,879) (10,823) 

Loans and borrowings (1) (8,820) (2,258) (42,364) (53,442) (52,367) 
Deferred consideration on 
payments - (123) - (123) 

 
(123) 

  (54,429) (3,921) (50,974) (109,324) (107,193) 

  60,006 (3,921) (50,974) 5,111 7,242 
1 Excludes capitalised borrowing costs. Refer to Note 3.7 for further details. 
 
Due to the nature of the Group’s operating profile, the Directors and management do not consider that the fair values of 
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are materially different from their carrying amounts at 30 June 2021. 
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5   GROUP STRUCTURE 
 
5.1    Group entities 
 

Name Principal activity 
 

Country of 
incorporation 

 

Interest held by 
the Group 

 2021 
% 

2020 
% 

BWX Limited*  Australia   
     
Subsidiaries      
Beautiworx Pty Ltd* Manufacturing Australia 100 100 
LHS No. 2 Pty Ltd Dormant Australia 100 100 
Uspa Corporation Pty Ltd Brand operating business Australia 100 100 
Edward Beale Hair Care Pty Ltd Brand operating business Australia 100 100 
BWX Brands Pty Ltd* Brand operating business Australia 100 100 
BWX Australia Pty Ltd (formally Regulatory 
Advisory Services Pty Ltd) Employing company Australia 100 100 

Regulatory Advisory Services Ltd Dormant United Kingdom 100 100 
Sukin Australia Pty Ltd* Brand operating business Australia 100 100 
Renew Skin Care Australia Pty Ltd Brand operating business Australia 100 100 
Derma Sukin Australia Pty Ltd Brand operating business Australia 100 100 
Lightning Distribution Pty Ltd* Distribution business Australia 100 100 
BWX Brands UK Limited  Brand operating business United Kingdom 100 100 
BWX Brands Canada Inc Brand operating business Canada 100 100 
BWX Brands India Private Limited Brand operating business India 100 100 
BWX Brands Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Brand operating business Malaysia 100 100 
BWX Brands USA, Inc. Holding company USA 100 100 
MF Brands (Cayman) Limited Holding company Cayman Islands 100 100 
MFNB Holdings, Inc. Holding company USA 100 100 
Mineral Fusion Natural Brands LLC Brand operating business USA 100 100 
Andalou Naturals  Brand operating business USA 100 100 
BWX Digital Pty Ltd  Brand operating business Australia  100 100 
BWX Brands EU B.V Brand operating business Netherlands 100 100 
     
Associates     
Purely Byron (1) Brand operating business Australia 49 - 
Naked Sundays (2) Brand operating business Australia 35 - 

 Entity is a member of the Closed Group under the Deed of Cross Guarantee (refer to Note 5.4) and relieved from the requirement 
to prepare audited financial statements by ASIC Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785. 

(1)  Purely Byron – a natural skincare retailer; acquired interest 49% amounting to $0.49 million, accounted for using equity method  
(2) Naked Sundays – a vegan and cruelty free skincare retailer; acquired interest amounting to $0.4 million, accounted for using 

equity method. 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Investment in associates 
The Group’s interest in equity accounted investees comprise interests in associates and joint ventures. Associates are those 
entities in which the Group has significant influence, but no control or joint control over the financial or operating policies. 
 
Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are recognised initially at cost which includes 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees until the date of significant influence or joint control 
ceases. 
 
At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or 
joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group recognises the loss as an impairment expense in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
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5.2    Parent entity information 
 
As at, and throughout, the financial year ended 30 June 2021 the parent entity of the Group was BWX Limited. 
 

  Parent Entity 
  2021 2020 
  $’000 $’000 
Result of parent entity:    
Profit for the period  11,830 20,837 
Other comprehensive income  (6,221) 1,331 
Total comprehensive income for the period  5,609 22,168 
      
Financial position of parent entity at year end:      
Current assets  37,394 941 
Total assets  353,302 302,338 
Current liabilities  2,964 1,181 
Total liabilities  46,829 45,652 
      
Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:      
Issued capital  293,393 237,692 
Reserves  5,074 10,183 
Retained earnings  8,006 8,811 
Total equity  306,473 256,686 

 
Parent entity contingent liabilities 
 
There were no contingent liabilities, guarantees or capital commitments of the parent entity not otherwise disclosed in these 
financial statements. 
 
Parent entity capital commitments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
 
There were no capital commitments for acquisitions of property, plant and equipment of the parent entity not otherwise 
disclosed in these financial statements. 
 
Parent entity guarantees in respect of the debts of its subsidiaries 
 
The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that the Company guarantees debts in respect 
of certain subsidiaries. 
 
Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the Deed are disclosed in Note 5.4. 
 
5.3   Related parties 
 
5.3.1   Transactions within the Group 
During the reporting period and previous reporting periods, BWX Limited advanced loans to, received and repaid loans from, 
and provided treasury, accounting, legal, taxation, and administrative services to other entities within the Group. 
 
Entities within the Group also exchanged goods and services in sale and purchase transactions. All transactions occurred on 
the basis of normal commercial terms and conditions. Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, 
which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. During 
the year the Group provided loans to associates of $0.35 million. 
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5.3   Related parties (continued) 
 
5.3.2   Directors and key management personell 
 
The aggregate compensation made to Key Management Personnel of the Group is set out below: 
 

  Year ended 
30 June 2021 

Year ended 
30 June 2020 

  $ $ 
    
Short-term employee benefits  3,174,566 3,497,087 
Post-employment benefits  - 119,872 
Share-based payments  787,139 830,564 
  3,961,705 4,447,523 

 
Loans to and from key management personnel 

 
There were no loans to key management personnel of the Group, including their personal related parties, as at 30 June 2021 
(2020: nil) other than non-recourse loans provided to acquire employee loan plan (ELP) shares. These loans are considered 
options and are accounted as share-based payments under AASB 2 Share-based Payment. Their fair value is recognised as 
expense over the vesting period and included in the share-based payment expense disclosed above. See note 6.2 for further 
details. 
 
Other transactions with key management personnel 

 
No transactions between key management personnel and their related entities were made with the Group during the year 
ended 30 June 2021 (2020: nil). 
 
5.4    Deed of cross guarantee  
 
Pursuant to ASIC Corporations (Wholly owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785, the wholly owned subsidiaries listed below 
are relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports, and 
Directors’ reports. 
 
 Beautiworx Pty Ltd 
 BWX Brands Pty Ltd 
 Sukin Australia Pty Ltd 
 Lightning Distribution Pty Ltd 
 
The effect of the deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding 
up of any of the subsidiaries which are party to the deed under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding 
up occurs under other provisions of the Act, the Company will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor 
has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also been given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is wound 
up. 
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5.4    Deed of cross guarantee (continued) 
 
Statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income and retained earnings 
 

  Deed of cross guarantee 
group   

Year ended 
30 June 2021 

Year ended 
30 June 2020   

$’000 $’000 
        
Sales revenue   111,291 97,196 
Cost of sales   (42,403) (39,055) 

Gross profit   68,888 58,141 

        
Other income   12,985 14,646 
Operating expenses   (24,576) (25,869) 
Profit before depreciation, amortisation, finance costs, acquisition 
and restructuring related expenses   57,297 46,918 

        
Depreciation and amortisation   (3,149) (2,963) 
Finance income/(expenses)   1,809 3,226 
Acquisition and restructuring expenses   (695) (936) 

Profit before tax   55,262 46,245 

        
Income tax expense   (7,794) (1,593) 

Profit after tax   47,468 44,652 

        
Other comprehensive income:       

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   (15,514) 2,950 

Other comprehensive income for the period   (15,514) 2,950 

      

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners   31,954 47,602 

        

Retained earnings at beginning of year   52,662 25,010 
Profit after tax   47,468 44,652 
Intercompany dividends (outside of the DOCG Group)  (6,872) - 
Dividends recognised during the year   (5,006) (4,970) 

Retained earnings at end of year   88,252 64,692 
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5.4    Deed of cross guarantee (continued) 
 
Statement of financial position 
 

  Deed of cross guarantee group 
  

  
2021 2020 

  $’000 $’000 

        
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents   59,825 18,166 
Trade and other receivables   22,897 23,868 
Inventories   21,107 18,705 
Other assets   4,882 61 
Total current assets   108,711 60,800 

        
Non-current assets       
Investments in other Group subsidiaries   77,903 87,334 
Receivables   200,441 172,633 
Plant and equipment   18,720 7,283 
Investment in associate  890 - 
Other longterm investments  4,354 - 
Intangible assets and goodwill   84,831 85,673 
Deferred tax assets   258 1,923 

Total non-current assets   387,397 354,846 
        

Total assets   496,108 415,646 

        
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables   30,445 19,579 
Financial liabilities   11,401 20,289 
Current tax (receivable)/liabilities    11,309 9,244 

Total current liabilities   53,155 49,112 
        
Non-current liabilities       
Financial liabilities   43,893 44,497 
Deferred tax liabilities   10,868 10,731 
Total non-current liabilities   54,761 55,228 

        
Total liabilities   107,916 104,340 

      
Net assets   388,192 311,306 
        
Equity       
Contributed equity   293,393 237,691 
Reserves   6,548 20,953 
Retained earnings   88,251 52,662 
Total equity   388,192 311,306 
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6   OTHERS 
 
6.1   Contingent liabilities and commitments  

 
6.1.1   Contingent liabilities 
 
As announced to the ASX on 10 July 2018, Waterloo Capital Partners LLC (WCP) has filed proceedings against the Company 
in relation to a success fee stemming from the acquisitions of the Mineral Fusion and Andalou Naturals businesses and for 
breaches of an alleged joint venture between the Company and WCP. Post legal advice, the Board remains of the view that 
the claim has no merit and is unlikely to be substantiated. 
 
6.1.2   Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment 
 
As at 30 June 2021, the parent entity had contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment 
totalling $9.4 mllion (2020: nil). These commitments are not recognised as liabilities as the relevant assets have not yet been 
received.  
 
6.2    Employee benefits 
 
The grant date fair value of equity settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an expense, 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is 
adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected 
to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and 
non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. 
 
a) Details of Share Plan 
To assist in the attraction, retention and motivation of employees, the Group operates the following share-based payment 
plans: 
 
Employee Loan Plan Awards 
Executives and Non-Executive Directors (Participants) were formerly granted shares in the Company from FY16 to FY19 which 
were secured by non-recourse loans between the Participant and the Company. The shares were granted in several tranches 
each year. Three tranches had service conditions (12, 24 and 36 months) and two were subject to the satisfaction of EBITDA 
hurdles which could be satisfied at any time over a five year period. 
 
The number of shares issued for each tranche was based on the spot price of the shares of the Company on the grant date. 
The spot price was used to determine the loan amount. Once the tranche vests, as determined by the Group and approved 
by the Board, the Participant is provided twelve-months to repay the loan attached to the shares or to surrender the shares 
in satisfaction of the loan. The final date on which all loans must be repaid is 15 June 2023. If the Participant ceases 
employment, the rights to any unvested shares are automatically forfeited and the shares are surrendered. While Participants 
are eligible for dividends and have voting rights attached to the shares, the shares are secured by a holding lock preventing 
the Participants from dealing with the shares until the loan is fully repaid. 
 
Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards 
 

Plan Key Terms 
Performance 

Condition 

Performance/ 
Restriction 

period 

Dividends 
received 
before 
vesting 

If participant 
leaves before 

end of 
performance 

period 

CEO Sign-On Rights 
CEO receives 
performance rights 
at no cost. 

Tenure  
1 year and 2 

years 
No 

Generally 
forfeited 
(Board 

discretion 
may apply) LTI Plan 

Eligible participants 
receive performance 
rights at no cost. 

- Compound annual 
EPS growth - 50% 
weighting              

3 years No  - Absolute Total 
Shareholder Return 
weighting - 50% 
weighting 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
6.2    Employee benefits (continued) 
 
Deferred Short-Term Incentive Plan Awards 
Executives are eligible to be awarded 25% of the short-term incentive plan in the form of deferred share rights.  The amount 
of Deferred Equity allocated to each participant will be 25% of the STI award divided by the ten (10) day volume weighted 
average price of a Group Share immediately after announcement of full-year results (i.e. at or around the time the Board 
confirms STI outcomes). The Deferred Equity cannot be exercised for a period of twelve months following grant and will vest 
into ordinary shares in the Company subject to the Executive’s continued employment. The STI award is subject to satisfaction 
of gateway hurdles including Group NPAT target, international revenue targets, cash flow targets and non-financial targets. 
 
Provided that the Gateway Conditions are met, STI can be awarded based on the following Corporate Metrics being achieved 
during the FY21 year. 

 Group NPAT target 
 International net revenue target 
 Group net cash flows target 

b) Grant Date Fair Value 
The grant date fair value of the rights are independently determined using the Geometric Brownian Motion model, Binomial 
option pricing model and Monte Carlo Simulation. Key inputs are summarised below: 
 

Hurdle 
Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date Model (s) used Other Key Inputs  

2020 Grant – 3 Years 
(CEO) 

 16/11/20  12/6/23 

 Geometic Brownian Motion - 
EPS 

 Binomial -EPS 
Monte Carlo Simulation - TSR 

Daily Standard Deviation 4.57% 
Annual Volatility 72.87% 

2020 Grant – 3 Years 
(Executive) 

 17/11/20  12/6/23 

 Geometic Brownian Motion - 
EPS 

 Binomial -EPS 
Monte Carlo Simulation - TSR 

Daily Standard Deviation 4.57% 
Annual Volatility 72.87% 

2020 Grant – 3 Years   17/11/20 
 

 12/6/23 

Geometic Brownian Motion - 
EPS 
Binomial -EPS 
Monte Carlo Simulation - TSR 

Daily Standard Deviation 4.57% 
Annual Volatility 72.87% 

2020 Grant –Deferred 
STI 

 17/9/20 
 

1/7/21 

Geometic Brownian Motion - 
EPS 
Binomial -EPS 
Monte Carlo Simulation - TSR 

Daily Standard Deviation 4.57% 
Annual Volatility 72.87 

 
c) Details of shares or rights on issue during the year is shown below: 
 

 

2021 

 
 
 

 
 

Opening 

 
 
 

 
 

Granted 

 
 
 

 
 

Forfeited 

 
 

 
 

Vested/ 
Exercised Closing 

Weighted Avg 
Fair Value of 

Rights 
Granted 

during the 
Year 

CEO Sign-On RIghts 210,640 -  -  (105,320) 105,320 - 

LTI Plan Shares 1,109,151 993,691 (303,251) -  1,799,591 $1.42 
Deferred STI Shares  -  56,295 (2,896) -  53,399 $3.08 
ELP Shares 1,561,115 - (398,613) (645,000) 517,502 - 

Weighted Avg Fair Value 
Exercise Price  ELP 

     
$1.32 

 
- 

 
$1.78 

 
$0.59 

 
$1.87 

 
- 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
6.2    Employee benefits (continued) 

 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Share based payments 
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees in accordance with the Company’s long-term incentive plan. 
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of 
the equity instruments at the grant date.  
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight line basis 
over the expected vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a 
corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such 
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the options/performance 
rights reserve. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the 
goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the 
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders 
the service. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the 
goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the 
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders 
the service. 
 
STI shares 
The fair value of deferred shares granted to employees for nil consideration under the short-term incentive scheme is 
recognised as an expense over the relevant service period, being the year to which the bonus relates and the vesting period 
of the shares. The fair value is measured at the grant date of the shares and is recognised in equity in the share-based 
payment reserve. The number of shares expected to vest is estimated based on the non-market vesting conditions. The 
estimates are revised at the end of each reporting period and adjustments are recognised in profit or loss and the share-
based payment reserve. Where shares are forfeited due to a failure by the employee to satisfy the service conditions, any 
expenses previously recognised in relation to such shares are reversed effective from the date of the forfeiture.   
 
ELP  
The non-recourse loans granted to acquire shares under the ELP are accounted as for as options under AASB 2 Shared-based 
Payment. The fair value of the options is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding increase in the 
share-based payment reserve. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options 
granted:  
- including any market performance conditions (e.g. the entity’s share price), and  
- excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales growth targets 
and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period). 
 
 
 

2020 

 
 
 
 
 

Opening 

 
 
 
 
 

Granted 

 
 
 
 
 

Forfeited 

 
 
 
 

Vested/ 
Exercised Closing 

Weighted Avg 
Fair Value of 

Rights 
Granted 

during the 
Year 

CEO Sign-On RIghts 210,640  - -  -  210,640 - 

LTI Plan Shares -  1,292,001 (182,850) -  1,109,151 $1.92 
Deferred STI Shares  -  -  -  -  - - 
ELP Shares 3,623,833  - (1,262,718) (800,000) 1,561,115 - 

Weighted Avg Fair Value 
Exercise Price  ELP 

 
$3.89 

 
- 

 
$1.70 

 
$0.31 

 
$1.32 

 
- 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
6.2    Employee benefits (continued) 
 
The total expense is recognised over the expected vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting 
conditions are expected to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options 
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to 
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.    
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
Share based payment transactions 
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of 
the equity instruments at the grant date.  
 
The fair value of long-term incentive plans are determined using the Binomial and Geometric Brownian Motion model and is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments 
that will eventually vest. 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. 
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense 
reflected the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the options/performance rights reserve.  
 
6.3    Auditor’s remuneration 

 
  Year ended 

30 June 2021 
Year ended 

30 June 2020 
  $ $ 
    
Assurance services1    
PwC Australia - Audit and review of financial statements  230,000 - 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd - Audit and review of financial 
statements 

 
- 219,000  

  230,000 219,000  
Other auditors  20,000 36,866  
  250,000 256,866 
    
Taxation and other services     
PwC Australia – non audit services  15,000 - 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd - Taxation services  -  39,305 
  265,000 295,171 

1 The auditors of the Group and the Company in 2021 is PwC Australia (2020: William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd and its related 
entities (William Buck)). From time to time, PwC Australia (2020: William Buck) provides other services to the Group and the 
Company, which are subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company.  
 
6.4    Subsequent events 
 
6.4.1   Dividend 
A final dividend of 3.1 cents per fully paid ordinary share has been determined for the year ended 30 June 2021 – refer to 
Note 4.2. 
 
6.4.2   Business combination 
 
On 17 May 2021, BWX entered into an agreement to acquire 100% of Flora and Fauna (F&F), a leading online retailer focused 
on vegan, ethical and sustainable products, with completion date set at 1 July 2021. The purchase consideration is estimated 
to be approximately $30 million, payable based on multiples of F&F’s FY21 revenue performance. There are no non-cash or 
deferred consideration. 
 
 
6.4    Subsequent events (continued) 

70



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

Management are currently in progress of finalising and agreeing the purchase consideration and hence have not completed 
the purchase price allocation exercise. Information on fair value of net assets acquired and goodwill on acquisition will be 
disclosed in the FY22 half-year accounts. 

On 27 August 2021, BWX entered a binding agreement to acquire a 50.1% controlling interest in the shares in Go To 
Enterprise Holdings Pty Ltd (Go-To).  Go-To owns and operates the business of designing, manufacturing and retailing 
natural skincare products under the brand names Go-To, Bro-To and Grow-To.  In connection with the announcement of 
the acquisition of the 50.1% controlling interest of the shares in Go-To, BWX announced that it intends to raise 
approximately $100.0m in share capital through an institutional placement and a Share Purchase Plan, with an 
expected closing date in late September 2021. 

Chemist Warehouse Strategic Partnership 
On 7 July 2021, the Group issued the second tranche of BWX of shares to be issued in line with the five-year equity linked 
strategic partnership with Chemist Warehouse Group, being 881,613 shares. 

6.5   Impact of COVID-19 to operations update 

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing. Measures were taken to work with key retail partners to 
ensure supply of products, increasing manufacturing output of items in demand, pivoting to direct-to-consumer business 
model to meet demand during retail lockdowns and developing hand sanitiser products. However, it is not practicable to 
estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is 
dependent on measures imposed by the Australian and US governments and other countries, such as maintaining social 
distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided.  
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) impact 
The accounting policies for critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions are consistent with the 2020 Annual 
Report, however, given the evolving nature of the current pandemic and resulting economic disruption, the Group has 
considered the impact of the pandemic and market volatility on estimation uncertainty. 

Areas of uncertainty include the extent and duration of disruption based on consumer, business, and government actions 
and incentives, to contain the spread of COVID-19, and mitigate the economic downturn. Furthermore, actual economic 
conditions may vary from the estimates used. This could result in material differences between the accounting estimates 
applied and the actual results of the Group for future periods. 

In preparing the financial statements, BWX re-assessed areas of judgement and identified that the estimates more exposed 
to uncertainty were those of expected credit loss (ECL) and inputs to assessing the carrying value of assets and liabilities.  

Using the Group’s own direct experience and knowledge as well as forward looking information, obtained by reviewing 
external analyst reports and public forecasts, to identify potential impacts from COVID-19, the inputs to these estimates were 
stress-tested, with the carrying values re-evaluated. 

The carrying values of goodwill, intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and working capital for 
each cash generating unit (CGU) have been reassessed, and no CGU has been impaired as a result of stress-testing a range of 
reasonably expected outcomes.  
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Directors’ Declaration 

1. In the opinion of the directors of BWX Limited (the Company):

(a) the consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 30 to 71 and the Remuneration 
Report in pages 11 to 28 of the Directors’ Report are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance 
for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Group entities identified in Note 5.1 will be able 
to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee as described in Note 5.4 between the Company and those Group entities pursuant to ASIC Corporations 
(Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785.

3. The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 by the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 

Ian Campbell 
Chairman 

Melbourne, 27 August 2021 

72



 

 
  
PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
2 Riverside Quay, SOUTHBANK  VIC  3006, GPO Box 1331, MELBOURNE  VIC  3001 
T: 61 3 8603 1000, F: 61 3 8603 1999, www.pwc.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
  

Independent auditor’s report 
To the members of BWX Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of BWX Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities 
(together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

What we have audited 
The Group financial report comprises: 

● the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021 
● the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then 

ended 
● the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
● the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
● the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory information 
● the directors’ declaration. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

Our audit approach 

An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 



 

 

individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates. 

 

Materiality Audit scope Key audit matters 

● For the purpose of our audit 
we used overall Group 
materiality of $1.9 million, 
which represents 
approximately 1% of the 
Group’s total revenues.  

● We applied this threshold, 
together with qualitative 
considerations, to determine 
the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and to 
evaluate the effect of 
misstatements on the 
financial report as a whole. 

● We chose Group revenue 
because, in our view, it is a 
benchmark against which the 
performance of the Group is 
most commonly measured.      

● We utilised a 1% threshold 
based on our professional 
judgement, noting it is within 
the range of commonly 
acceptable thresholds.  

● Our audit focused on where 
the Group made subjective 
judgements; for example, 
significant accounting 
estimates involving 
assumptions and inherently 
uncertain future events. 

● The Group comprises entities 
across the world, with the 
most financially significant 
operations being BWX 
Australia and BWX USA.  

● Our audit work focussed on 
the financial information of 
BWX Australia and BWX USA 
given their financial 
significance to the Group.  
Additionally, we performed 
specific risk focussed audit 
procedures in relation to the 
Group’s other operations to 
provide us with sufficient and 
appropriate audit evidence to 
express an opinion on the 
Group’s financial report as a 
whole.  

● Amongst other relevant topics, 
we communicated the 
following key audit matters to 
the Audit and Risk Committee: 

− Impairment testing of 
goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets - 
USA Cash Generating Unit 
(CGU) 

− Accounting for  rebates 
and trade allowances  

− Inventory valuation 
● These are further described in 

the Key audit matters section 
of our report. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context.  



 

 

 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

 
Impairment testing of goodwill and 
indefinite-lived intangible assets - USA CGU 
(Refer to note 3.5) 

The Group’s USA CGU recognised $118.9m (2020: 
$129.7m) of goodwill and $63.4m (2020: $69.2m) of 
other indefinite-lived intangibles at 30 June 2021.  In 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets 
are required to be tested for impairment annually.  

No impairment charge has been recorded in 2021 
(2020: $nil).  

The CGU’s recoverable amount is determined using 
the Value in Use (VIU) methodology using a 
discounted cash flow model.  

The carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-
lived intangible assets is contingent on future cash 
flows and there is a risk if these cash flows do not 
meet the Group’s expectations that the assets are 
impaired. The impairment model prepared by the 
Group contains a number of significant judgements 
and estimates including revenue growth, terminal 
value growth and discount rates. Changes in these 
assumptions can have a significant impact on the 
headroom available in the impairment assessment.  

Given the level of judgement incorporated by the 
Group, the assessment of the recoverability of the US 
CGU was considered to be a key audit matter. 

 

 

 

To evaluate the Group’s assessment of the recoverable 
amount of the US CGU, we performed a number of 
procedures, including the following: 

● Assessed whether the division of the Group’s 
goodwill and other indefinite-lived assets 
into CGUs, was consistent with our 
knowledge of the Group’s operations and 
internal management reporting;  

● Assessed whether the carrying value of the 
CGU included all assets, liabilities and cash 
flows directly attributable to the CGU and a 
reasonable allocation of corporate 
overheads;  

● Assessed the mathematical accuracy of the 
cash flow model; 

● Agreed the underlying forecasts to board 
approved budgets and compared historical  
forecast growth to actual growth; 

● Assessed the appropriateness of the revenue 
growth assumptions, including 
consideration of customer contracts and 
external evidence;   

● Assessed variability and completeness of 
costs in the model;   

● Read and assessed the report prepared by 
the Group’s experts engaged to evaluate the 
carrying value of the CGU;  

● With the support of our valuations experts, 
we assessed the terminal value growth and 
discount rates; and  

● Evaluated the related financial statement 
disclosures for consistency with Australian 
Accounting Standards requirements.  



 

 

Accounting for rebates and trade allowances 
(Refer to note 2.1 )  

Revenue is measured net of rebates and trade 
allowances which relate to retail customers selling 
BWX products on promotion.  

The Group is required to estimate and accrue for this 
spend at each reporting date to the extent they relate 
to sales made by the Group in the financial year.   

Due to the nature of arrangements with customers 
there can be complexity in determining trade 
allowance classification in the financial statements.  

We considered accounting for these rebates and trade 
allowances as a key audit matter given the nature of 
these arrangements with customers can be complex 
and due to the financial significance of the spend.  

To assess the accounting for rebates and trade 
allowances, we performed a number of procedures, 
including the following:  

● Obtained an understanding of the Group’s 
processes and controls over the recording of 
rebates and trade allowances;  

● On a sample basis, read and obtained an 
understanding of customer arrangements 
and the nature of related expenditure;  

● Tested a sample of rebates claimed by retail 
customers after balance date and assessed 
the completeness of the accrual;  

● On a sample basis, tested disbursements 
subsequent to year-end to identify that 
accruals were appropriately recorded at 
year-end;  

● Examined a sample of subsequent receipts to 
test that amounts have been appropriately 
accrued; and  

● Examined a sample of customer 
arrangements and compared the nature of 
the expenditure to assess the appropriate 
classification as required by the Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

 
To evaluate the Group’s valuation of inventory, we 
performed a number of procedures, including the 
following:  

Inventory valuation 
(Refer to note 3.2)  

The Group recognised net inventories of $44.0m 
(2020: $36.8m) at 30 June 2021. Inventory consists 
of raw materials, work in progress and finished goods.  

Finished goods include cost of direct materials and 
labour, and a proportion of manufacturing overheads 
based on normal operating capacity.   

The Group values inventory at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value and therefore estimates are 
required to determine the recoverable amount.   

Given the complexity in the overhead allocation and 
the level of judgement involved in determining the 
provision, this was considered to be a key audit 
matter.  

● Evaluated whether the methodology applied 
to account for manufacturing overheads was 
appropriate; 

● Assessed the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculation and allocation of overheads; 

● Evaluated the methodology applied to 
calculate the provision for obsolete or slow 
moving inventory; 

● Tested the mathematical accuracy and 
completeness of the provision for obsolete or 
slow moving inventory; 

● On a sample basis, tested the cost of 
inventory on hand at year-end, including 
comparison to latest sales prices; and  

● Attended physical stocktakes where we 
tested a sample of inventory items to assess  
the existence of inventory and identify any 
damaged inventory items.  

 



 

 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  Prior to the date of this auditor’s report, the other 
information we obtained included the Directors Report, the Shareholders Information and the 
Corporate Directory.  We expect the remaining other information to be made available for use after the 
date of this auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
and will not express an opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our 
professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of 
our auditor's report. 

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf


 

 

Report on the remuneration report 

Our opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 11 to 28 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2021. 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of BWX Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company  are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Nadia Carlin Melbourne 
Partner 27 August 2021 
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